Executive Manager: Jan-Robert Riise **Director: Christine Ferguson**

Governance and Law **Corporate Services Department** Montfield, Burgh Road Lerwick, Shetland ZE1 0LA

Telephone: 01595 744550 Fax: 01595 744585

administrative.services@shetland.gov.uk

www.shetland.gov.uk

If calling please ask for Louise Adamson

Direct Dial: 01595 744555

E-mail: louise.adamson@shetland.gov.uk

Date: 16 April 2018

Dear Sir/Madam

You are invited to the following meeting:

Development Committee Council Chamber, Town Hall, Lerwick Monday 23 April 2018 at 2pm

Apologies for absence should be notified to Louise Adamson at the above number.

Yours faithfully

Executive Manager – Governance and Law

Chair: Mr A Cooper Vice-Chair: Mr S Leask

AGENDA

- (a) Hold circular calling the meeting as read.
- (b) Apologies for absence, if any.
- (c) Declarations of interest - Members are asked to consider whether they have an interest to declare in relation to any item on the agenda for this meeting. Any Member making a declaration of interest should indicate whether it is a financial or non-financial interest and include some information on the nature of the interest. Advice may be sought from Officers prior to the meeting taking place.
- (d) Confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2018 (enclosed).

Items

1.	Aquaculture and Fisheries Research Funding Provision for Financial Year 2018/19 DV-14-18
2.	Sullom Voe Harbour Area – Development Planning PH-08-18

Agenda Item

1

Meeting(s):	Development Committee	23 April 2018
Report Title:	Aquaculture and Fisheries Research Funding Provision for the Financial Year 2018/19	
Reference Number:	DV-14-18-F	
Author / Job Title:	Douglas Irvine, Executive Manager – Economic Development	

1.0 Decisions / Action Required:

- 1.1 That the Development Committee RESOLVE to:
 - 1.1.1 Approve grant funding for ongoing maintenance and development of the Shetland Marine Spatial Plan by NAFC Marine Centre in 2018/19, at a total cost of £39,107.
 - 1.1.2 Approve a budget of £150,000 for the financial year 2018/19 to be used as match-funding for research projects in aquaculture and fisheries, to be considered by the Council's Economic Development Service on a case by case basis. It is expected that these projects will demonstrate their ability to deliver economic development outcomes as well as levering in external funding where possible.

2.0 High Level Summary:

- 2.1 This report proposes that funding of £39,107 be approved for use by the NAFC Marine Centre to provide ongoing development and maintenance of the Shetland Marine Spatial Plan in the financial year 2018/19.
- 2.2 It is also proposed that a budget of £150,000 for the coming financial year be set aside for the Council's Economic Development Service to provide match funding on a case-by-case basis for aquaculture and fisheries research projects that can demonstrate their economic development impact.
- 2.3 In support of the proposal in 2.2, an analysis of funding provided for aquaculture and fisheries research projects in the past two financial years is provided, to demonstrate the benefits derived from investment in research projects of this nature.

3.0 Corporate Priorities and Joint Working:

3.1 <u>Delivery on Corporate Priorities</u> - Provision of support for aquaculture and fisheries research in Shetland helps meet the following goals stated in the Council Plan 2016-20:

"We will have an economy that promotes enterprise and is based on making full use of local resources, skills and a desire to investigate new commercial ideas";

"We will have a culture of helping new businesses to start up and businesses to grow...";

"Will be investing development funds wisely to produce the maximum benefit for Shetland's economy".

4.0 Key Issues:

- 4.1 NAFC Marine Centre's Marine Spatial Planning team carries out the development and maintenance of the Shetland Marine Spatial Plan. The Shetland Marine Spatial Plan is widely acknowledged as an international exemplar for the future of marine management. In addition to writing policy documents and producing the local marine atlas the Marine Spatial Planning team fulfil Shetland's legal requirements under the National Marine Plan by jointly forming with the Council one of the partners in the Marine Planning Partnership; and they help fulfil the ongoing legislative requirements of the local plan itself.
- 4.2 Furthermore, the Marine Spatial Planning team also lever in external funding to NAFC Marine Centre in order to produce specific project outputs examples being Shetland's Regional Locational Guidelines for Marine Renewables, and the Council's Biosecurity Plan.
- 4.3 The knowledge and expertise built up in the course of operating the Marine Spatial Plan means that this service is not readily obtainable from more than one supplier, service provider or contractor hence satisfying the Council's Contract Standing Orders (where the value of goods is between £10,000 and £50,000) insofar as competitive tendering is not required in this instance.
- 4.4 A budget of £150,000 was reserved within the Economic Development service for the financial years 2016/17 and 2017/18, to enable the provision of match-funding on a case-by-case basis for aquaculture and fisheries research projects. It was expected that these projects could demonstrate their potential economic development impact, and would lever in external funding to augment the Council's contribution.
- 4.5 There was a good uptake of this budget in 2016/17 with five diverse research projects approved, to a total value of £142,010. These have been supported with external contributions from industry, industry groups and academic institutions to a total value of £81,316. Research subjects have included fish surveys and data reviews, effects and implications of the discard ban, and pelagic lifecycle assessments.
- 4.6 The uptake of the budget in 2017/18 was strong too, with three research projects approved, to a total value of £126,077. These projects have been supported with contributions from industry and industry groups totalling £9,300. Research subjects were an expanded fish survey; investigation of foodweb biodiversity and trophic interaction; and work to improve production of quality mussel larvae and their algal feeds.
- 4.7 The very nature of the projects for which this funding has been approved means, to a certain extent, that measuring direct benefits from them in the short to medium term is problematic. Research in itself carries no inherent guarantee of success and, even when results are favourable, often requires the private sector to commercialise or capitalise upon it; or indeed, requires further research work to be undertaken in order to make sense of what has been learned thus far.

- 4.8 In this regard, the Council's provision of a research budget is quite unlike any other grants approved by the Economic Development service where, in most cases, a specific project will lead to measureable improvements in efficiency, profitability, turnover etcetera.
- 4.9 This is not, however, always the case. One of the projects funded in 2016/17 is a particularly pertinent example of research that addressed industry need and had, almost immediately, a positive cost-saving effect in industry. The Fish Survivability project was undertaken in 2016 in response to industry attempts to find avenues through which the Landings Obligation LO (Discard Ban) could become more workable. This was both time critical and topical. There was a high degree of industry interest in potential exemptions from the LO for certain species and gear types based on the survivability of some species after discarding/ post-capture release. The project operated as a pilot study to collect preliminary scientific data on the potential survivability of a range of species from trawl and seine net fisheries and outlined for industry the rigorous and costly process that they would need to follow, should exemptions be a likely possibility. The data indicated that survivability was not high enough to warrant industry pursuing exemptions further. This saved industry a significant amount of time and money being spent on rigorous full survivability assessments which would in all certainty been unsuccessful and allowed them to focus efforts in other avenues. Full assessment would have involved combinations of sea trials and underwater footage and/or tank based survivability experiments, and would have cost in excess of £100k per species per fishing gear.
- 4.10 Other research funded provides datasets of potentially enormous commercial and environmental value. The Council's support of the ongoing Inshore Fish Survey in 2016/17 and 2017/18 extends a study initiated in 2009 in response to industry reports of high numbers of juvenile cod. NAFC's ability to quickly initiate an independent survey and report the findings in a timely manner resulted in industry organisations being able to present evidence of that years' strong year class well ahead of when information was reported through the international surveying system. At the time, cod recovery and management measures were politically highly topical and at the forefront of issues concerning industry. It quickly became apparent that there were benefits in developing the survey to be undertaken annually and provide an annual index of abundance of fish of commercial interest in inshore waters around Shetland. With almost 10 years of data, the survey is at the point of becoming a valuable time series and has the capability of acting as an early warning of future fluctuations in key stocks. The survey was expanded in 2017 to include additional areas of shallower water where information on juvenile populations is lacking. The survey covers areas not included in the International Bottom Trawl Surveys, demonstrating the unique value our support can add to Shetland's fisheries.
- 4.11 Meanwhile, other projects the Council has supported in the past two financial years are timely, and hold significant potential promise for delivery of benefits in coming years. The Carbon Footprint Project, researching the carbon footprint of the pelagic sector, is assessing the related environmental impacts of the pelagic industry, developing an integrative greenhouse gas emissions tool and attempting to project future fishing opportunities based on climate projections. This work will provide invaluable marketing information to the pelagic sector proving that its carbon footprint is very low compared to terrestrial forms of protein production, and could have significant economic impact for the sector.

4.12 The Fish Foodweb Project meanwhile aims to gain a better understanding of foodweb biodiversity and trophic interactions for fish species of commercial interest in waters around Shetland. The data generated from this study has a number of scientific applications and, initially, it will be used in an ecosystem modelling study that will generate scenario outputs around possible post-Brexit management options.

5.0 Exempt and/or Confidential Information:

5.1 None.

6.0 Implications :	
6.1 Service Users, Patients and Communities:	Aquaculture and fisheries research directly supports the local seafood sector, which is the largest individual economic sector in Shetland with an annual value in excess of £350m. Ancillary sectors (engineering, etc) also rely on the seafood sector and would be adversely affected if the seafood sector were to experience problems.
6.2 Human Resources	None.

and Organisational Development:
6.3

None.

Equality, Diversity
and Human Rights:

None.

Legal:

6.4

6.5

The proposal to fund aquaculture and fisheries research to the value of £189,107 will be met from within approved budgets.

6.6

Finance:

None.

Assets and Property:

None.

6.7 ICT and New Technologies:

6.8

Environmental:

Some research projects will have a beneficial impact on the marine environment such as the Marine Spatial Planning element, any improvement to fishing techniques that preserves stocks and, promoting the use of cleaner fish for removing sea lice in aquaculture systems.

6.9

Risk Management:

There are no significant issues for the Council. The research projects are being specified and performance will be assessed. There may be a financial risk for NAFC Marine Centre if fisheries and aquaculture research projects do not materialise to the expected level.

6.10 Policy and/or Delegated Authority – This report has been **Policy and Delegated** prepared with regard to the aim of the Council's Economic **Authority:** Development Policy Statement 2013-17: "To improve the economic well-being of Shetland by promoting an environment in which newer industries develop alongside thriving traditional industries". The Economic Development Policy Statement 2013-17 was approved by the Development Committee on 14 August 2013 [Min Ref: 37/13] and by the Council on 28 August 2013 [Min Ref: 65/13]. There is a particular fit with: Objective 1.3: "Support a high quality marine research and training facility". The specific measure in this regard, to "Ensure financial support to the NAFC Marine Centre is appropriately targeted to meet industry needs" is particularly relevant to this report, as is the following annual target relating to Objective 1.3: "9 research and development projects with commercial applications undertaken". Objective 1.4: "Improve and develop engagement of the service with local industry". The specific measure in this regard, "Support research and knowledge gathering to inform growth in the local industry" is particularly relevant to this report, as is the following annual target relating to Objective 1.4: "Identify two

The Development Committee has delegated authority to implement decisions within its remit, in accordance with Section 2.3.1 of the Council's Scheme of Administration and

Objective 3.2: "Support research and development projects which encourage innovations and growth in the private sector". The following annual target relating to Objective 3.2 is relevant

to this report: "Two research and development projects

research projects with commercial potential".

As the subject of this report is covered by existing policy the Development Committee has delegated authority to make a decision.

6.11	
Previously	n/a
Considered by:	

Delegations.

Contact Details: Douglas Irvine, Executive Manager – Economic Development

Email: douglas.irvine@shetland.gov.uk

Date: 12 April 2018

Appendices: None.

Background Documents: None.

Agenda Item

2

Meeting(s):	Development Committee Environment & Transport Committee Harbour Board Policy & Resources Committee	23 April 2018 24 April 2018 25 April 2018 30 April 2018
Report Title:	Sullom Voe Harbour Area – Development Planning	
Reference Number:	PH-08-18F	
Author / Job Title:	John Smith, Acting Executive Manager – Ports & Harbours	

1.0 Decisions / Action required:

- 1.1 That Development Committee take the necessary strategic decision to authorise development of a Marine Development Masterplan for Sullom Voe Harbour Area;
- 1.2 That Environment and Transport Committee and Harbour Board consider and comment to Policy and Resources Committee on aspects within their respective remits (see paragraph 6.10 of this report), and,
- 1.3 That Policy and Resources Committee consider any views from the Committees/Board before deciding to give final approval of the resources required from the Harbour Account to undertaken this planning exercise.

2.0 High Level Summary:

- 2.1 This report presents proposals on how best to progress the consideration of planning and marine development guidance for the Sullom Voe Harbour Area.
- 2.2 It provides background on current marine development arrangements, and how they were developed. It then considers the objectives and practicalities of planning future development in the Sullom Voe Harbour Area in a balanced and structured fashion.

3.0 Corporate Priorities and Joint Working:

- 3.1 Section 3 in the Ports and Harbours Strategic Overview considers overall Council priorities for economic development and transport as they relate to marine activities in some detail.
- 3.2 'Our Plan 2016 to 2020' states; "We will be an organisation that encourages creativity, expects co-operation between services and supports the development of new ways of working".
- 3.3 This report recognises the importance of cross Council co-operation in much of the work that Ports & Harbours is involved in and therefore looks to discuss that work with, and be informed by, key committees.

4.0 Key Issues:

- 4.1 Shetland's participation in the Oil and Gas industry is underpinned by the Port of Sullom Voe. As part of the arrangements for effective port management and conservancy the majority of Yell Sound, from the Point of Fethaland, mainland to Fogla-lee, Yell in the north to the Ness of Copister, Orfasay, Samphrey and Burra Ness at the South East, is designated as the "Sullom Voe Harbour Area" (SVHA). This area also includes the piers and harbours at Collafirth, Toft and Ulsta as well as the waters up to the head of Sullom Voe at Mavis Grind.
- 4.2 In addition to Oil & Gas support activity there are a range of other users and stakeholders in the area. Fishing, shellfishing, transport and leisure users all utilise Yell Sound frequently, it is also an important environmental location including the Sullom Voe Special Area of Conservation (SAC) designation for the whole inner harbour area and has been the subject of continuous environmental monitoring by the Shetland Oil Terminal Environmental Advisory Group (SOTEAG) since the Sullom Voe Oil Terminal was opened.
- 4.3 Aquaculture is currently not permitted anywhere in the SVHA by policy contained in the Supplementary Guidance Aquaculture adopted in April 2017, see appendix 1 for background. There is continued commercial interest from the aquaculture sector in possible future development in the SVHA should arrangements change. Other potential future users of the area include marine renewables as well as further fishing, leisure and oil and gas interests.
- 4.4 Given the range of potentially competing interests and the changes to technologies and user needs and interests over time it is likely that a comprehensive "Marine Masterplan" that considers the full range of competing uses within the SVHA would be the best method of planning and guiding future development in a balanced, structured and sustainable manner.
- 4.5 Shetland has had a non-statutory marine spatial plan in place since 2006. The current 4th edition was adopted as supplementary guidance to the Shetland Local Development Plan in 2015 and is due to be replaced in 2019 by Shetland's first Regional Marine Plan (RMP) as required under the Marine (Scotland) Act 2010.
- 4.6 Public consultation on the scope of the draft RMP for Shetland is due to commence in April 2018, and it is proposed that the following new policy statement will be included in that draft plan:
 - "DEV4: All proposals for marine-related developments located within or adjacent to a designated harbour area must comply with any harbour plans, policies, directions and by-laws in place within such designated harbour areas."
- 4.7 The production of a "SVHA Masterplan" would inform the draft RMP for the Sullom Voe designated harbour area. It would clearly be guided by the general principles, objectives and overarching policies of the Shetland RMP, but would go into greater detail within the SVHA. The Masterplan would provide a foundation for future marine development in the SVHA and the arrangements required for that to be most effectively managed. The outcome of any master planning exercise would also inform whether there is a need for a review of the policy prohibiting aquaculture within the SVHA and it may be preferable for both exercises to run concurrently to prevent unnecessary time lag.

- 4.8 A Shetland Partnership "Locality Planning" exercise for the Yell, Unst and Fetlar, a masterplan for the "Shetland Hub" (the Sullom Voe landward area) and Crown Estate asset management pilots are also being progressed at this time. Any SVHA masterplan would work alongside these exercises with each informing and complementing the other.
- 4.9 The conduct of any Master Planning exercise would be a joint activity between the Infrastructure and Development Departments drawing on the expertise of the Planning, Economic Development and Community Planning and Development Services in particular.
- 4.10 Costs of the exercise would be borne by the Harbour Account as the area under consideration is a designated harbour area. It is difficult to be precise about the timetable for the completion of a comprehensive Masterplan but it would be likely to take some 12 to 18 months to conduct the wide range of consultation, data collection, modelling and associated activity.

5.0 Exempt and/or confidential information:

5.1 None

6.0 Implications:	
6.1 Service Users, Patients and Communities:	The potential for a review has already been the subject of consultation with stakeholders including the Sullom Voe Association, SOTEAG, relevant Council services, fishing, shellfish, salmon and mussel aquaculture interests. The development of any Master Plan would be the subject of further widespread consultation among these stakeholders and local communities.
6.2 Human Resources and Organisational Development:	No implications arising directly from this report.
6.3 Equality, Diversity and Human Rights:	No implications arising directly from this report.
6.4 Legal:	Governance and Law provide advice and assistance on the full range of Council services, duties and functions including those included in this report.
6.5 Finance:	The Council earns income from the services provided at the Port of Sullom Voe, and other piers and harbours within the SVHA. It also bears the costs of providing the infrastructure and those services. Protecting and balancing Council, community and commercial
	financial interests would be an important factor in any comprehensive Master Planning interest.
	It is likely that some external costs in specialised economic appraisal and environmental assessment services would be required to produce any Master Plan. It may be possible to access these services as per the arrangements in place for the

	production of the Shetland RMP. Additional costs will be met from the Council's Harbour Account.
	Any diversion of resource from the Council's Harbour Account for non-operational activity, given the consequential income foregone, requires a decision from Policy and Resources Committee.
	No detailed cost estimate has been produced at this stage, but other recent Master planning exercises conducted by the Council have cost up to £100,000.
6.6 Assets and Property:	While the SVHA is not technically a Council owned asset, the seabed belongs to the Crown Estate, the foreshore and port infrastructure are Council assets. Capital Projects will be consulted with regard to potential impacts on these assets, and as advisors on any engagement with the Crown Estate.
6.7 ICT and new technologies:	No implications arising directly from this report.
6.8 Environmental:	Protection of the Shetland marine environment is a key priority and would be the prime objective in any marine master planning exercise.
6.9 Risk Management:	Structured planning and guidance about long term development is intended to reduce risk associated with unplanned activity and mitigate potential adverse environmental and economic consequences.
6.10	Development Committee
Policy and Delegated Authority:	The relevant functional areas include relate to strategic regeneration, development, economy and business, energy, fisheries, arts, culture, and tourism and community regeneration / community development.
	Environment and Transport Committee
	The relevant functional areas include the natural environment, roads, transport and ferry services.
	Harbour Board
	Strategic oversight and direction in all aspects of the operation of the Council's harbour undertaking in accordance with overall Council policy and the requirements of the Port Marine Safety Code.
	Act as Duty Holder as required by the Port Marine Safety Code and ensure that the necessary management and operational mechanisms are in place to fulfil that function.
	Consider all development proposals and changes of service level within the harbour undertaking; including dues and charges, and make appropriate recommendations to the Council.

	Policy & Resources Committee	
	Develop and recommend the corporate plan, the development plan and the overall framework of strategies contained in the Policy Framework.	
	A matter having application across or which affects the terms of reference of more than one body will be referred to the Policy and Resources Committee who may give such advice as may be appropriate or refer the matter to the Council.	
	Secure the co-ordination, control and proper management of the financial affairs of the Council.	
6.11 Previously considered by:	Harbour Board Policy & Resources Committee	7 February 2018 12 February 2018

Contact Details:

John Smith, Acting Executive Manager – Ports & Harbours jrsmith@shetland.gov.uk 26 March 2018

Appendices:

Appendix 1 – SVHA Planning Policy Development Background

Background Documents:

Ports & Harbours Strategic Overview

END

<u>Aquaculture exclusion in Sullom Voe Harbour Area – Policy History</u>

Zetland County Council Act 1974

Part II/ GENERAL DUTIES AND POWERS/ Sections 5 & 6:

- 5. -(1) It shall be the duty of the Council, subject to the provisions of this Act, to take all such action as they consider necessary or desirable for or in connection with—
 - (a) the conservancy of, and the control of development in, the coastal area and in the vicinity of a harbour area;
 - (b) the promotion of development and the provision, maintenance, operation and improvement of port and harbour services and facilities in, and in the vicinity of, a harbour area.
- 6. The Council shall exercise jurisdiction as a harbour authority and the powers of the harbourmaster shall be exercised within—
 - (a) the areas the respective limits or which are described in Schedule 1 to this Act; and
 - (b) any area designated by the Secretary of State under section 33 (Harbour jurisdiction in respect of works) of this Act.

North Mainland Local Plan Report of Survey, June 1985

4.56 The suitability of a site for salmon farming depends on sea conditions (shelter, water depth and water exchange) and on the absence of conflict with existing fishing, navigation, recreation and nature conservation interests. No sites have been identified in Sullom Voe because of the risk of oil pollution and possible navigational hazards.

North Mainland Local Plan (Draft) Summary Leaflet, June 1988

Salmon Farming

Offshore salmon farming, which is the fastest-growing industry in Shetland, is controlled by the Council by means of a system of Works Licences. The Council has detailed policies on the siting of salmon cages which aim, amongst other things, to reduce the likelihood of disease and protect other water uses. Comment would be welcomed on the extent to which scenic quality should be taken into account. Salmon farms will not be allowed in the Sullom Voe Harbour Area for as long as its main purpose is the navigation of vessels using Sullom Voe Terminal.

North Mainland Local Plan Public Participation Report, April 1989

Appendix G – North Mainland Local Plan (Draft) Summary of Written Comments and Action Taken

Shetland Salmon Farmer's Association comments:

Policies E9-E10 – Amend text to allow a rational and balanced consideration of fish farming development within the Sullom Voe Harbour Area before closure of the Terminal.

Response:

Amend Policy E10 to read "Fish farming will not normally be permitted...." to allow for special cases where there would be no conflict with shipping and harbour operations.

North Mainland Local Plan, September 1989

Industrial Strategy/ Salmon Farming/ paragraph 3.29:

Special consideration will need to be given to any proposals for salmon farming in Sullom Voe or in the voes off Yell Sound. Salmon farms will not normally be permitted in the designated Sullom Voe Harbour Area in view of the dangers of oil pollution, the likely conflict with vessels navigating the approaches to Sullom Voe Terminal, and the danger that effluent from the salmon farms will upset the detailed chemical and biological monitoring programmes undertaken by SOTEAG in Sullom Voe and Yell Sound. In order to assess the effects on the environment caused by discharges from the Terminal, SOTEAG has to be able to carry out studies of water quality and sediment composition which could easily be disturbed if pollutants from another source are entering the water. It is proposed that this policy should be reviewed when the oil output from the Terminal has declined to 50% of its peak (1986) level in order to allow the planned introduction of salmon farming into this area when the Terminal eventually closes.

Salmon Farming Policies:

E9 - Fish farming will not normally be permitted anywhere within the Sullom Voe Harbour Area (as defined in the Sullom Voe Harbour Revision Order 1980) for as long as its primary purpose is to accommodate vessels engaged in the carriage of hydrocarbons or other dangerous substances.

E10 – Policy E9 will be reviewed when oil throughput at Sullom Voe Terminal has decreased to 50% of its peak (1986) level in order to allow the planned introduction of fish farming to the Sullom Voe Harbour Area after the closure of the oil terminal.

Works Licence Policy

Policy E9 quoted in Annex 1 (Other relevant Planning Policies and Designations) of the 1999 Works Licence Policy.

Wording of Policy E9 as contained in Annex 1 (Other relevant Planning Policies and Designations) of the 2004 Works Licence Policy changed from previous in that it reads:

Fish farming will not normally as a matter of policy be permitted anywhere within the Sullom Voe Harbour Area (as defined in the Sullom Voe Harbour Revision Order 1980) for as long as its primary purpose is to accommodate vessels engaged in the carriage of hydrocarbons or other dangerous substances.

The above amended wording was also carried over to the 2005 Works Licence Policy.

Aquaculture Planning Policy

Policy M7 of the 2007 Interim Policy for Marine Aquaculture:

Over time, the Council has adopted policies in coastal areas of Shetland where there is a general presumption against aquaculture development. Such policies are as follows:

- (a) Fish farming will not as a matter of policy be permitted anywhere within the Sullom Voe Harbour Area (as defined in the Sullom Voe Harbour Revision Order 1980) for as long as its primary purpose is to accommodate vessels engaged in the carriage of hydrocarbons or other dangerous substances;
- (b) No aquaculture developments will be permitted in Whiteness Voe north of a line between Usta Ness and Grutwick or the upper part of Weisdale Voe between the Taing of Haggersta and Vedri Geo;
- (c) No further new aquaculture developments will be permitted in Busta Voe north of a line drawn between Hevden Ness, Mainland and Green Taing, Muckle Roe as a matter of policy, and variations to existing sites north of this line should not result in either an increase in site size, a change in site location or an increase in environmental or visual impact.

Policy M7 carried over to the 2017 Aquaculture Supplementary Guidance (now Policy G4) which was adopted as statutory supplementary guidance to the Local Development Plan in April 2017.

Challenges to Policy

In 2003, works licence applications were lodged for three salmon farm developments within the limits of Sullom Voe Harbour Area. All three applications were withdrawn prior to determination.

Also in 2003, eight works licence applications were lodged by two competing developers for mussel farm developments within the harbour limits. All eight applications were refused by the Marine Development Sub-Committee as contrary to Policy E9 of the North Mainland Local Plan. Six of the eight decisions were the subject of appeals to Scottish Ministers, all of which were dismissed.

Interpretation of "Fish farming"

Extract from the reports for the eight mussel farm works licence applications:

Part 9.1 of the Council's Works Licence Policy interprets "marine fish farming" to mean "the cultivation of finfish or shellfish in the coastal area". In light of this interpretation, the term "Fish farming" as stated in Policy E9 of the North Mainland Local Plan applies to all forms of aquaculture development, including mussel farming.

The Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 defines "fish farming" as the breeding, rearing or keeping of fish or shellfish (which includes any kind of sea urchin, crustacean or mollusc).

Initial mention of policy review (2017)

Extract from minute 06/17 of the Development Committee meeting of 08 February 2017:

During the discussion, the Leader referred to the existing Policy, that aquaculture developments are not permitted within the Sullom Voe Harbour Area, and he suggested the need for a review in that regard.

Mr Robertson moved that the Committee approve the recommendation in the report. In seconding, Mr Robinson proposed that a review be undertaken of the Sullom Voe Harbour Area for aquaculture developments, to be reported in due course. Mr Robertson agreed to this addition to his motion, and the Committee concurred.

Decision:

The Committee RECOMMENDED to the Council that it resolve to adopt the Supplementary Guidance – Aquaculture as statutory guidance to the Local Development Plan.

The Committee requested a review be undertaken of the Sullom Voe Harbour Area for aquaculture developments, to be reported in due course.

Extract from minute 09/17 of the Shetland Islands Council meeting of 22 February 2017:

The Council considered a report by the Chair of Development Committee (SIC-0217-DV-12) which presented the Supplementary Guidance (SG) - Aquaculture.

In introducing the report, Mr Cooper advised from the additional decision at Committee, for a review to be undertaken of the Sullom Voe Harbour Area for aquaculture developments, to be reported in due course. Mr Cooper moved that the Council approve the recommendation in the report. Mr T Smith seconded. Dr Wills asked for his abstention to the decision to be recorded.

Dr Wills advised on his alarm at the request for a review to be undertaken of the status of the Sullom Voe Harbour Area, which at present was free from aquaculture developments. He advised on the tonnage of farmed salmon produced in Shetland during 2013, but he questioned if anybody knew what was the tonnage of salmon faeces released. He said that he did not agree to any increase in aquaculture developments, where it is not a sustainable industry, and there are also the problems with sea lice. He said that despite a large oil terminal at Sullom Voe, the inshore area is relatively pristine, and the Special Area of Conservation status, which had largely contributed to this situation, should never be changed.

During the discussion, Members were advised on the discussion at Development Committee and on the purpose of the review. It was confirmed that there is no assumption that the review would result in any new developments, but that a review of the status of the area was overdue.

Mr Robertson advised on the thorough consultation process, he said that the SG – Aquaculture was an excellent document, and that salmon farming was an important industry to Shetland. In terms of the review, he advised on the need for an extremely cautious approach when considering aquaculture developments in Sullom Voe. Mr Cooper advised on the need for the review to be carried out, which he said would not impact on the SG for the aquaculture industry.

Escalation of possible policy review (2018)

Council Committees (February 2018)

Extract from report title "Ports & Harbours Strategic Overview" presented to Harbour Board on 07 February and Policy & Resources Committee on 12 February:

- 4.7 The second relates to a review of the blanket exclusion of aquaculture from the whole Sullom Voe Harbour Area which is currently in force. The Harbourmaster and Marine Examination Panel have concluded that this blanket exclusion is no longer required in the outer Sullom Voe Harbour Area for navigational safety reasons, given the substantial reduction in tanker traffic using Sullom Voe.
- 4.8 It is their recommendation that consultation on a case-by-case basis, in the same way that marine development is managed in other locations, would provide sufficient safeguard for existing and anticipated Oil Tanker traffic management within that area. These processes also allow for other stakeholders and concerned parties to comment on any developments proposed.
- 4.9 The Sullom Voe Harbour Area blanket exclusion is part of the Councils suite of Planning guidance. It is recommended that any review of that guidance take into account this revised position relating to the outer Sullom Voe Harbour Area. Any review would be co-ordinated by Development Services.

The report can be viewed here:

http://www.shetland.gov.uk/coins/Agenda.asp?meetingid=5526

Extract from minute 2/18 of the Harbour Board meeting of 07 February 2018:

Sullom Voe Harbour Area. The Acting Executive Manager — Ports and Harbours advised of an expression of interest from the aquaculture industry to reconsider the blanket exclusion that currently exists for the Sullom Voe Harbour Area. During discussions it was suggested that if the industry accepts the risk to their aquaculture business in the event of an oil spill, lifting the blanket ban may be an option. However there was still a desire for oil and pipelines coming ashore in the North of the harbour area and allowing aquaculture activities may discourage the oil industry from coming into Sullom Voe. A request was made that more discussion on this matter was required, and in particular with the Sullom Voe Association (SVA) in the first instance. The Director of Infrastructure Services agreed stating that it should be on the SVA agenda in March which would help Officers and Members to understand how Enquest will support West of Shetland development. The Harbourmaster advised that he had looked at a number of areas from a navigational perspective where it would not impinge on navigation in the harbour area.

A suggestion was made that it would be useful to identify certain routes as possible pipeline options to evidence to the Oil industry that there are routes available, making Sullom Voe an attractive option. The Director of Infrastructure Services said that this would spark discussion with the industry were the SVA to identify these routes. She added that the master plan for Sullom Voe fits in well with this suggestion and it would be good to align all this work to see what could be done in terms of works licences, bringing the three strands together.

During discussion around specific areas that could be identified within the harbour area for sea farming, it was recognised that there are a number of assets around Shetland that have been created that provide no benefit to the Council as Harbour Authority for use of the harbour other than landings across piers. It was suggested that the Council could look into being actively involved as a developer owning its own works licence where a salmon farmer would rent the area during the production cycle. The Director of Infrastructure Services agreed that this could be discussed during the master planning stage in terms of how it relates to other activities that are not just oil and gas activities.

In considering the recommendations contained in the report, comment was made that more information was required around paragraph 4.7-4.9 on the harbour area before a decision is made. Members were reassured however that the decision required today was to simply undertake a review to consider whether the blanket ban should remain and that more information would be brought to the Harbour Board to make a decision. In seeking assurance from the Solicitor, Members were advised that Legal Services would look at all areas of consideration during the review process. The Solicitor said that it was prudent to look at the activities of Ports and Harbour and Legal Services will be part any review process.

During debate it was suggested that sight of the original report that approved the blanket ban would be useful and following further discussion, Mr Cooper moved that the Harbour Board approve the recommendation to Policy and Resources Committee that the actions proposed in sections 4.4 to 4.6 of this report relating to: the disposal of ex foot passenger piers; and that the review of blanket exclusion of aquaculture activity from the whole Sullom Voe Harbour Area at sections 4.7, 4.8 and 4.9 be the subject of a further report to the Harbour Board and the Development Committee which will include an initial view from the Sullom Voe Association, on activity in the inner and outer harbour area, and include sight of the original report that resulted in the decision of the Council excluded harbour activity in the Sullom Voe Harbour area. Mr Burgess seconded.

Decision The Harbour Board;

- CONSIDERED the information and proposals described in the Ports & Harbours Strategic Overview and;
- RECOMMENDED to Policy and Resources Committee......that the review of blanket exclusion of aquaculture activity from the whole Sullom Voe Harbour Area at sections 4.7, 4.8 and 4.9 be the subject of a further report to the Harbour Board and the Development Committee which will include an initial view from the Sullom Voe Association, on activity in the inner and outer harbour area, and include sight of the original report that resulted in the decision of the Council excluded harbour activity in the Sullom Voe Harbour area. Mr Burgess seconded.

Extract from minute 17/18 of the Policy & Resources Committee meeting of 12 February 2018:

In introducing the report, the Acting Executive Manager – Ports & Harbours advised from the decision at Harbour Board, to recommend the actions proposed in sections 4.4 to 4.6 of the report relating to the disposal of ex foot passenger piers, but that the review of blanket exclusion of aquaculture activity from the whole Sullom Voe Harbour Area at sections 4.7, 4.8 and 4.9 be the

subject of a further report to the Harbour Board and the Development Committee, which will include an initial view from the Sullom Voe Association, on activity in the inner and outer harbour area, and include sight of the original report that resulted in the decision of the Council excluded harbour activity in the Sullom Voe Harbour area. In that regard, the Acting Executive Manager – Ports and Harbours advised that the further report would be presented during the May cycle of meetings.

In moving the recommendation in the report, Mr Cooper referred to the decision at Harbour Board for consultation to take place with Sullom Voe Association, and he suggested that SOTEAG also be consulted in terms of environmental issues. Mr Coutts seconded.

Decision:

The Committee RESOLVED to approve the actions proposed in sections 4.4 to 4.6 of the report relating to; the disposal of ex foot passenger piers; and

That the review of blanket exclusion of aquaculture activity from the whole Sullom Voe Harbour Area at sections 4.7, 4.8 and 4.9 be the subject of a further report to the Harbour Board and the Development Committee which will include:

- an initial view from the Sullom Voe Association on activity in the inner and outer harbour area,
- consultation with SOTEAG in terms of environmental issues, and
- sight of the original report that resulted in the decision of the Council excluded harbour activity in the Sullom Voe Harbour area.

Aquaculture exclusion in Sullom Voe Harbour Area – Policy Review Procedures

The policy prohibiting aquaculture in the Sullom Voe Harbour Area is presently contained in the Aquaculture Supplementary Guidance (SG) which forms part of the suite of SG to the Shetland Local Development Plan 2014. The relevant part of the policy states:

- Over time, the Council has adopted policies in coastal areas of Shetland where there is a general presumption against aquaculture development. Such policies are as follows:
 - (a) Fish farming will not as a matter of policy be permitted anywhere within the Sullom Voe Harbour Area (as defined in the Sullom Voe Harbour Revision Order 1980) for as long as its primary purpose is to accommodate vessels engaged in the carriage of hydrocarbons or other dangerous substances;

Following public consultation, the draft Aquaculture SG was presented to the Development Committee on 08 February 2017. The Committee recommended to the Council that it resolve to adopt the Aquaculture SG as statutory guidance to the Local Development Plan. The Council, at its meeting of 22 February 2017, adopted the Aquaculture SG as statutory guidance to the Local Development Plan. As required by Regulations, notification to Scottish Ministers of the Council's intention to adopt the Aquaculture SG took place on 16 March 2017. Notice was received on 10 April 2017 that Scottish Ministers did not propose to issue a direction in relation to the Aquaculture SG which resulted in it being adopted by the Council on that date.

Any review of the Aquaculture SG would have to be taken forward by the Planning Service following direction to do so by the Council. Given the statutory status of the document, notification to

Scottish Ministers of the Council's intention to undertake a review would be advised. Public consultation on the scope of the review would be required before adoption of any amended Aquaculture SG by the Council. Finally, notification to Scottish Ministers of the Council's intention to adopt any amended Aquaculture SG would be required.

Should it be the will of the Council for the policy prohibiting aquaculture to be lifted from parts of the Sullom Voe Harbour area, the Planning Service is minded it will be essential to fully masterplan the area taking account of all sectors, stakeholders and constraints. That in itself is a significant piece of work which would require adoption by the Council following full stakeholder engagement, consultation, etc. From past experience, it is estimated that it will take 12-18 months from now until any such masterplan could be adopted.

Links to Marine Spatial Planning

Shetland has had a non-statutory marine spatial plan in place since 2006. The current 4th edition was adopted as SG to the Shetland LDP in 2015 and is due to be replaced in 2019 by Shetland's first Regional Marine Plan (RMP) as required under the Marine (Scotland) Act 2010. Public consultation on the scope of the draft RMP for Shetland is due to commence in April 2018, and it is proposed that the following new policy will be included in that draft plan:

DEV4: All applications for marine-related developments must comply with any harbour plans, policies, directions and by-laws in place within designated harbour areas.